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| KENNE‘DY, 2,
[1] The Manltoba Telecom Servrces Inc. (MTS) and the Provmcnal AUdItOl' seek -
an-order for summary Judgment dlsmlssmg this actlon agalnst Jon Slngleton (the 7
| Provmqal Auditor and CllffOl’d Fox (an mdependent Actuary). 7 | |
[2] The Plalntlffs (“TEAM" also referred to as “Employees’) allege MT. S dld not -
"'provrde benef‘ ts that were’ equrvalent in value to what the Employees and/or
Retirees enJoyed under the old plan as required by the Act |

[3] This appllcatlon by MT S representlng Fox is based on the fact that his

op|n|on on equnvalence is not open to challenge and as a result there is no

genume |ssue for trlal affectlng hrm Smgleton relies on. the protectlon of the_ |
Provmcral Audltor’s Act and the Act it is alleged also excludes him from belng-',
sued leaving no genuine |ssue for trial affecting hlm.
| '[4] MTS also bases its’ posntlon in part on the mclusnon in the appllcable' :

| leglslatlon of the “November Agreement” and the “Memorandum of

| Understandlng” which are the mechanlsm to remedy the Plalntlffs clalms The -
Plaintiffs - however-take the vnew that these sectlons are provnsrons put in place to , |
remedy issues arlsmg wnth the new plan, but are not the processes to address
fundamental error in relatlon to “equrvalence” as of the date of implementation |
and accordingly Fox’s opinion is subJect to challenge. Furthermore the Plaintiffs
| say the November Agreement has. already been breached which is a matter for

‘the trial ltself



[5] Singleton argu.es that the action against him shoUId also be'dismissed on
| grounds Wthh arise out of Ieglslatlon protectmg the Provincial AUdItOI’ from this
actlon In effect it is aIIeged the Ieglslatlon protects him from a claim for_his :
conduct unless bad faith is established.
- [6] The Plaintiffs’ oppose the motions and provide extensive material to be
| ’.rewewed by the motlons Judge mcludmg 10 Iengthy aff' davnts 6 vqumes of crosst

| examlnatlons, 125 pages of argument plus several volumes of case law supportmg
thelr posntlon | |

[7] The Plaintiffs argued the amount'ofﬂ material in itself, warrants that the

matter go to trial while MTS says that. thIS actlon against Fox is prlmanly a Iegal a

one and because of his Ieglslated appointment, he cannot be sued It is aIso o

argued that practlcally speaklng a dlsmlssal at this point would save conslderab_le
trial time, | | |

[8] The Manitdba COurt of Appeal has COrnmented on such situations but warns
agains_t this approach simply based on there being a large VOtume. |
[9] The Couft of Appeal also addressed the practical issue and saving trial time;_ :
In the followivng decisions the court indicated th.at: an application for- eummary »' ,
decision was the appropriate tinje td deal with the matter of whether there 'was.’a_
“genuine issue for trial” and the summary judgment court should not “throw uu'its
, hands",‘ so to ‘speak and send the issues to the trial judge to save time.

[10] The cases referted to dealing with the issue of a “genuine issue” for trial‘

are numerous but the following_case involving the tort of misfeasance, the court



said in Comeau’s Sea Foods Ltd. v. Canada (Minister'_bf Fisheries. and |
| Oceans) (1995), 123 D.LR. (4™):

The test to be met was further stated as foIIows by the Ontarlo _
Court of Appeal in Ungerman (Irving) Ltd. et al. v. Galanis and
Haut (1991), 4 O.R. (3) 545 at p- 551 regardlng the mirror rule for
summary ]udgment in Ontario: :

It is safe to say that “genuine” means not spurious and, more
specifically, that the words “for trial” assist in showing the .
meaning of the term. If the evidence on a motion for
~ summary judgment satisfies the court that there is no issue of
fact which requires a trial for resolution, the requirements of
the rule have been met. It must be clear that a trial is

necessary.... Further, it is important to keep in mind that the

courts funct/on is not to resolve an issue of fact but to
determine whether a genuine issue of fact eX/sts

It'is a sensible. general proposmon that if there is an issue of - -
credibility, a trlal is requwed and summary Judgment should.' '
not be granted....

(|ta||cs mme)

~ And, at p. 552

...the proposition that an issue of cfednbnhty precludes the'g'rantlng of

summary judgment applies only when what is said to be an |ssue of
credlblhty is @ genuine issue of Cl’edlblllty :

Scott C.J.M. stated as follows in Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
'v. Derksen Brothers Holdlngs Lid. et al (1995), 100 Man R. (2d) 224
(C A.) at p. 232

This case is an_ example of the onus facing a Defendant in an.

application for summary judgment in which the Plaintiff has -

presented a strong prima facie case. It is not enough in response to

- set forth, voluminously, a complex set of interwoven facts in an

effort to induce the court to throw up its hands and say, in effect, -
“Let the trial judge sort out this mess.” The time to “sort it out” is in
response to the Plaintiff’s application. Failure to advert to the real
issues and to present facts that are capable of forming the basis for
a real defence on the merits will result in the Plaintiff's application
belng successful _



~ While the above case deal$ with the onus on a,‘D_e-fendant who is responding to a
Plaintiff’s-mOtion for summary judgrhent, the qUoté demonstrates the heavy onus
on a party respondi.ng _to such a fnotion.
~ Finally, Helper J.A. held as follows in Atlas Acceptance Corp. Ltd. et al.'
" v. Lakeview Development of Canada Ltd et al (1992), 78 Man. R.(2d)
161 (C.A.) at p. 167:
[35] 1t is not enough for a party opposmg a motion for summary _

~ judgment to avert to evidence that may be forthcoming at trial to
support its claim. The affidavit evidence must establish that the

evidence upon which the party relies does in fact exist and, if

accepted, will establish the claim presented... .

- [11] F_or this Court to consider the Defendahts’ poéition, it mu.st.delve -throagh all -
.'the material anyway and having done so it is just as ptaé:_tical for this court t.o‘ |
make the substantive décision on whether fhere is a génuine iéSue for trial, and
deal with the issue one way or another. |
[12] The applications by Jon Sihgleton (Sihglefon), Manitoba’s Proviricial Auditoi',
_ ar_ld Clifford Fox '(Fox'), the Independent Actuary selectéd' by him, for summary'
judgment -'d'i_smissing this actidn against them are based on the premise .-that'
heither of the‘rﬁ may be sued and asvsuch there is no genuine issue. Therer aré |
contrary allegations raised'by the Plaintiffs dealing with issues of,credibility agaiﬁst

both Defendants.



P.RIVATISATION OF MTS AND THE PROCESS USED

| [13] 'I".he» befendants’ mand'ates were established by Iegi'slati_o'n to faci'litate.tihe'
privati‘zatio'n of the .Man_itoba Tele_phone SYstemr _The task 'was by_ determinin’g -
eduivalency between the prior pensi_on plan under CSSF and a- new plan
established by MTS, as of the implementation date of the'new plan.
[14] The- issues betvreen 't.he 'parties foeuses dn the treatment of the vpen'sion :
fund's surplus, treatment of the fund’s defi crency and governance of the fund as '
these matters are contalned in the oplnron of Clifford Fox. |
[15] The Iegrslatron under The Manitoba Te/ephone .S'ystem Reorgan/zat/on and
Consequent/a/ Amendments Act(the “Act") regardrng the apporntments of Fox and
Srngleton and their mandates are found under sectron 15 of the Act and are as
follows. | |

. En1ployee benefit d'efi.n'i-tions‘
15(1) In this section and in clause 29(d) |

. “employee” means a present or former employee of the corporatron or of -
an affi Ilate of the corporation;

“fund” means The C|V|I Service Superannuatron Fund constrtuted under o
The C/w/ Service 5uperannuat/on Act; o

“|mplementat|on date” rneans the date prescribed by -the regulations
after which the corporation is responsible for all benefits to which the .-
persons described in clause (2)(a) are entitled under the new plan;

“new plan” means a registerable pension plan established by the
corporation and registered under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the
Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985 (Canada);

“transfer amount” means that part of the assets of the fund, as at the
implementation date, determined by multiplying the total assets of the fund



"including any surplus by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount
of the actuarial liabilities of the fund for benefits payable or accrued to the
- persons described in clause (2)(a) based upon an actuarial valuation and
_the denominator of which is the amount of the actuarial liabilities of the
fund for benefits ‘payable or accrued to all persons entitled to benefits from
- the fund based upon an actuarlal valuation;

“trust fund” means the trust fund mamtanned by the trustee under the

. new pIan

New plans established

15(2) On or prior to the |mplementat|on date, the corporatlon shall

. establlsh

(a)the new plan which shall provide for benefits which on the -
implementation date are equivalent in value to the pension
benefits to which employees have or may have become
entitled under The Civil Service Superannuation Act or to-
which any other person has or would have become entitied -

~under The Civil Service Superannuation Act by virtue of the
death of an employee; and ’

(b)a fundlng arrangement WhICh shall provrde for group
insurance  benefits for employees which' on the
|mplementat|on date are equivalent in value to the insurance

benefits provided in the plan of |nsurance under The Public ',

Servants Insurance Act.
Indepe_ndent actuary to review plan

15(3) As soon as.possible after this Act receives royal assent, the Provincial -
Auditor shall appoint an independent actuary to review the plan proposed
by the corporation for the purposes of clause (2)(a) to determine whether
the benefits under the proposed pIan are equivalent in value as required by
 that clause.

Concerns of independent actuary to be addressed
15(4) The corporation shall take any steps necessary to resolve any

concerns raised by the independent actuary in a report prepared for the
purposes of subsection (3).



Deemed consent

15(10) The persons descnbed in subsectlon (2) are deemed'
“to consent _

~(a) to termination of their participation in the fund;
(b) . to the assignment and transfer of assets, liabilities and
~agreements from the fund to the new plan;
() to the determination of all rights under the new plan
- without. reference to The Civil Service Superannuation
Act, the fund, or any trust or trust agreement relating -
tothem; and |
(d) to termination of thelr participation in- the group '
insurance plan established under The Public Servants
Insurance Act and to the assignment and transfer of
monies and investments, liabilities and agreements ,
related to such group insurance plan.

November Agreement
15(11)

Nothrng in this section is to be interpreted as nullifying the
- effect of an agreement executed on November 7, 1996 by

representatives . of the Manitoba Telephone System, the = -

Government of Manitoba and employees on the sub]ect of
pension issues. - .

[16] _The application to disrniss ‘the decla.ra'tions against F_ox, ‘along with_the_
relevant -allegetions rn the Statement of Cleim is prediceted upon ’the_ positien that
Fox 'being independent can meke the deeision which etands whether it |s right or
wrong and it cannot be altered or set asnde MTS argues that as an lndependent: -
actuary appointed by the Provrncral Audrtor by Iegrslatlon, the rmpeachment of
Fox's decision on equivalency is not available. ‘Furthermovre, the Defendants argue

that because of the nature of his appoinrme'nt he has the right te be wrong and



the opinion is not subject to judicial re\)iew. If this were so then th'e,rei-is no .
| genurne |ssue for trial agalnst h|m .
: [17] In Slngletons case, being appornted under Provincial Legislation, he is
protected from ,belng sued unless it can be estabhshed that the Provmcral Audrtor
acted in “bad faith”. The Employees allege his Credibility' is in issue and that his
' conduct may’ amount to “bad faith”. | |

‘» [18] The Defendants were added as partles by consent part-way through the
) pre-tnal process with the pleadlngs belng amended and re-re-re-amended On-
the eve of the trial (wrt_h dates set) the Defendants now argue that the_case
again‘st'them 'sho_utd be dismissed. One"wonders, Why the objections to.t-hese-
Defendants heing added were not raised at the time. While not argued as such,
the “non- obJectlon" to the Iengthy examinations of a multrphcrty of wrtnesses
along with the examlnatlons and cross examlnatlons, at a much earlier date'
almost amounts to belng estopped from dorng so now.

[19] ﬁe Defendants’ argument flows from the posttion that the lack of a
genuine issue .can be based firstly on the applicable law and secondly on the
affidavit mate'rial filed in support of their position,. Fox's argument is' that his
_ appointment protects him from any review and as there is no privative clause
- allowing an appeal, which'it_is argued the Plaintiffs are doing by this Iitigation, his
application for summary judgment should. be allowed.‘ |
[20] Singleton argues he has the protection of legislation, even if he is in error

- or negligent, except where his actions are conducted in bad faith. The employees -



| 10
aII_ege Singleton did.act in “bad faith” by éxceeding-'his jurisdittion énd usurping
| Fox’s determination of equiv'alericy and the decla_rafory reliéf _against'him should
stand. - | |
[2_1_] "The evidence and arguments. in these proceedings are lengthy a.r.i:d complex
and I will keep. in mind ’th_.at_ this court is not to decide thé éubstantive .iSSUef but to
determine based upon.the evidence and ubbn takinQ a “hard I'odk”v'at the I'éw‘ ahd .

"the evidence whether there-a_re genuihe issues to be determi'n_ed'at trial. :

BRIEF FACTUAL ISSUES FROM PLEADINGS

[22] The claim againsf thesé'Defendants is for a number ofDedarationS (Fully
st forth in paragraphs 1£,g,a(0), g, GILKKA)KGDKGR) of the
- pleadihgs. In brief, the allegations are that both.Deferidénts acted i'néppropria-tely'_
in c'a'rryi'ng 6ut th'eir stated tasks »as sef_ out in the Iegislation a,ffecting them. o |
~[23] The remedy sought by the Plaintiffs is to de;laré the opini'on of Cliffd-rd .Fox, '
dafed March 5, 1997 invalid and a declaration, that thé_ true détérmination méde
by Fox contained in a Ie&er to Sihgleton 'déted Februéry -1_8, 19_97; is as conta‘iﬁed ’
| in that letter. - | o
[24] A further declaration is 'sou'gh_t. that Joh Singleton, by aiding Fox in reaching’
his opinion, was in effect ‘fetterin'g or interfering with: Fox's Ieg‘islated'
fndependenée. It is also ,allegéd that as he exceeded his jurisdicti_on' ihterferéd ":

- with Fox’s independence and thereby act,ed‘ in “Bad Faith”.
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[25] The 'Plaintiffs are employees or former employees Of the Manitoba Telec0m |
.System before it was pnvatlzed On pnvatlzatlon, the pensron fund into Wthh the
employer and employees contnbuted was to result ina fund which when valued
~on the desngnated |mplementat|on date; Fox was to,determlne_ whether the former
plan and the present plan’ were-equivalent

’[26] The leglslatlon also prowdes that when the funds are merged the detalls"
| would be deemed to be consented to, based on sec. 15(10) ThIS section deemed |
the Plamtlffs to consent to the termlnatron of the old fund, the transfer of assets
and |labI|ItIeS, all pnor rlghts and trust agreements termlnatlon in the insurance
fund and a55|gnment of investments and llabllltres to insurance plan.

[27] This deeming clause does not deem the two plans to be equivalent but was

for the purpose of putting closure to the interests of the employees in the prevrous' -

plan follownng the ﬁndmg of equivalence.

BASTS OF ALLEGATIONS'AGAINST FOX AND SINGLETON

[28] -'l'he Plaintiffs' claims against _Fox and Singleton are set out in variouS-
declarations against them aé indicated above. In mdre specific terms, they relate '-
to allegations of interference by Singleton influencing the'deter.minations made by
~ Fox, wrongfully i'nterfering. and changing Fox’s report, usurping his role,
collaboratlng | with employees of the VDefendants and otherwise changing,
substituting or replaclng the review and repdrt made by Fox»and’ knowingly»

- exceeding his jurisdiction.
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[29] Wlth respect to Fox it is also alleged he acted in" excess of h|s ]UI‘ISdICtIOﬂV ,

allownng Smgleton to interfere wrth the exercise of his mdependent role The |
| Plalntlffs allege the determlnatlon that Fox made in his letter of March 5 1997 is .
|nvalid and of no force and effect and because |t was rnﬂuenced and changed by
Slngleton and itis the February 18, 1997 report that ought to stand. |
[30] Because the Ieglslatlon appomted Fox with exclusive power in determining .
”'equwalency between the two pensron pIans and ‘how that matter was to be -
determmed MTS argues the matter ends there and removes any genume cause of‘

- action agamst Fox

131] If the matter does not end there accordrng to MTS |t becomes a questlon s

of whether the report was admrnlstratrve or Iegrslatlve and whether |t was pubhc’
or pnvate The exercise would also raise. the questlon of whrch standard of'
scrutlny applres The nght to review Foxs op|n|on, MTS argues is not avallable }' '

because Fox sroleisa Ieglslated appomtment whrch cannot be questloned

DOES FOX HAVE THE RIGHT TO BE WRONG |

[3_2] It is the Defendants’ 'p,osition that section 15(3) of (the i“Act’.’) is
determinative of the issue‘ Le. as to th_e opinion‘ on equivalency. | This section it'is -
argued, gives exclusive jurisdiction to Fox to make an independent determination. .

What if however the Actuary did not act independently?
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 [33] Fox is an actuary and by that véry qualification, an expert in ‘a_nalyz'ing
| humbers, values, complex financial criteria and also possesses a certain ability in-

valuing pension plans or the like.

f INDEPENDENCE AFFECT ED' BY NON-OBJECT IVE .ASSIS'I"ANCEv
[34] .The're is a presumptioh that with t.h‘es_e'qUa‘Iiﬁcat'ions Fox was capable of |
’thé task he was facing. (To that éxtent it .wOuId not ordiharily be heCessary to
heér sUbrri_issions from others unless Fox were to Seék oﬁt information '.toassist N
coming td:his own de@i_sidn.) "He' may however be wrong on certain matters as
experts in ma‘ny ﬁélds on occasio_hs are. E.'>.<p'efts may make e'rrors‘ dn advice ‘they» .
give and in their opinions. "- | : N
[35] In this case Fox admitted in evidence, he was ndt_ an expert ih pension pI_ah
comparison, an‘d he admitted he needed help. lThis case raises thé queStiQn of
: 'whethér he might turn- vto some 'othel.': pérson to make the fundamental
recomvmendaticr)ns on equivalenty. In doing so, if he reliéd, on Singleton, and h'is
colleagues, without giving the lémployees an -opportunify to present their opinion,.
the opihioh réndered by Fox could bé viewed as npt‘his opinion, possibly unfair'. ,
and potentially in error. Procedural Fairness would appiy because of the impact
r'that error may have on 'the_ ﬂﬁancial welfare of the employees. To seek édvice
from dthérs not knowing if the advice i's sound or not does a dissewi'te to thé

e_mployeés. Furtherrhore, denial of equal access to information provided to the
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Actuary by MTS S0 it mlght be corrected or argued is clearly contrary to-
procedural falrness |
[36] Should his deasron, wuth an admission of mexperlence relatlve toand
notwnthstandlng the assnstance he recelved be subJect to review? There was.
- substantial pension benef ts at stake for the employees now and in the future and' .'
a mistake could well Iead to substantial Iong term losses to the employees on
'retirement and considerable gain tothe-emoloyer. Did the new plan ha_ve Jthat -
effect? 'Evidence was addu_c_ed on_ .behal'f of both p_arties as to the _equivalenCy of
the plans and ditferent conclusions were reached. Should the' opinion.or\-this
ponnt be subJect to revrew wuth the apphcatlon of fa|rness as the standard?
7 [37] The dlscovery of how the employees pen5|on surplus was bemg used was ‘
| 'not made unt|I some time later promptmg in part, this I|t|gat|on It was also Iater
alleged that the legislated provision intended to provide a remedy respectlng the | o
fund in what is referred to -as “the November Agreement” that this clauee had- o
beenbreached. This }clause was not to alter _existihg rights. .The CIauee'states: :
$ection 15(11)'provides as fotlows: | o
_ Effect of agreement : '
15(11) Nothing in this section is to be mterpreted as
nullifying the effect of an agreement executed on November
7, 1996 by representatives of the Manitoba ‘Telephone
System, the Government.of Manitoba and employees on the
subject of pensuon issues.

[38] The Plaintiffs take thle position that the November Agreement has been

disputed and this issue will be dete'rmined at trial and may have a distinct effect
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on the equivalency issue. The question also attaches here; does a breach of the

November agreement affect the issue of equivalency?

WAS A DUTY OWED TO ANYONE

[39] The obligation _to detérmine equivalency Waé imposéd on Fox for the
 benefit of thé persons who had ‘a.n' interest in the fund. The Government in settingv
 up'}the p'ro.Céss‘ was doing- ) to provide a néﬁt’ral indépendent person that would
| detérmine equivalency. Thé 'mandate appe_afs' to be intended to safeguard the
interests of both pa’rtiés‘wit»h én end result. that both parties would be satisfied
that the objective was reaéhéd. The duty of the indépendent actuary was to
o achi'e\)e'that task and in th'é course of that detérmination. a duty was owed td all
pérties having an interest in the fund and its benefits. -
[40] A duty .Wés owed, in my view, to the employees and emploYef. A dutf to
'the employees ahd MTS to' be correct was imb’osed upon Fox. The Gov’ernment>
expectéd indepéndence’ from fhe actuary, not incOmpétence; inrexperience‘ dr,
outside influence. The Government’s expectation in legislating as it did was -
.‘entitled to Cdrrectness and it is this factor which |s called into question in the.-'-
_handling of the surplus, the deficit and the govérnance of-the plan; |

~ [41] 1If the opinion of March 5, 1997 is found to be incorrec_t, the_PI’aintiffs séek a
declaratidn_tﬁat the February 18, _'1997 Qpinion be the correct opinion (See para

1(k)(i) of the Re—Re-Ré Amended Statement of Claim).
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[42] Several issues of fairness have been raised as s well as correctness Wthh o

entail a review as to why the actuary took the actlon he dld and gave the opinion :

| he did, whrch mlght drrectly affect the mterests of the employees and may well, '_
have the effect of diminlshing the full beneﬁts available to present and future
employees. 1 take it for granted that because of the amount of money mvolved it
. was not the Government’s intentlon to tolerate any sngnrﬁcant error in determlnrng :

| 'equrvalency Errors were not acceptable because of the interest of the emponees '
who relred on the fund S benef' ts in some cases Iong |nto the future

[43] The NoVember Agreement' as indicated appears to address- .various

' correctlons however when the fundamental structure of equrvalency is called into ~ .

questron, because |t was prepared revrewed or mterfered with by Slngleton or -'
others the appilcation of the Agreement may not be correct What is rn issue is
'whether the approach taken rn arriving at equrvalency is correct. -
[44] The Plaintiffs’ (the TEAM) argument is predrcated upon evrdence that |
allegedly raises a piethora of errors and contradictions contained in Mr. Foxs :
evidence which the Plaintiffs say‘ jUstiﬁes' the entire matter being_'put before a :
| judge in the course of a trial.' - The Plaintiffs argue th.at_'this c'ase is about rights
and in particular whether or 'not' the report addressed the issues properly and

came to the correct conclusions in finding there was equivalency:
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FOX WAS CON FUSED IN THE TREATMENT OF THE SURPLUS
| [45] ~The Plaintiffs’ argument centered on there being numerous_ inconsistencies'
be_tween Fox's direct afﬁda\rit evidence and his cross- examination giving rise _to
contradictions in whether the pension surplus c0ntained in the 'oId fund was
' ‘transferred to the new plan or not There are references that Fox took the surplus' |
'|nto consrderatlon and there is documentatlon that the caIcuIatron of the surplusv

and rts aIIocatlon was so compllcated Fox sald it could not be determrned Thrs

|ssue |s fundamental in the mrnds of the Plaintiffs who say ought to have been "f _

correctly mcluded in the equrvalence determrnatlon between the two funds

[46] Mr. Fox mdrcated that he cons_ldered ‘the surplus but in the process he

concluded that the employees would be entitled to what they had received
previ0usly and that if the fund were not sufficient they could always challenge:th '
matter in court It is clear that Fox's mandate was to include the surplus as one
of the equrvalence components and because a varlety of unforeseen possrbllrtres
could occur in the future the employees argue the handllng of th|s issue by_l_=ox.
was not a farr treatment of the surplus

_[47] More particularly, the evidence is conﬂlctrng in-that there are occasrons '-
when it was stated that the surplus was included and others where it was merely
~ regarded as being considered. |

[48] It .was»‘apparent to the employees that the initial surplus meant more

money for some beneﬁts to them and ought to h_ave been squarely included in the.
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equalization between the old and new fund. 'There was evidence that't_he surplus
was used'to defer the c_osts of the employer and not for empldye_e beneﬂts. o
| [49] Th‘e March 5 1’997,report_,- which is the final 'report from the a_ctuary, makes
no reference»to the use of the surplus .which,‘was a dramatic change between the

February draft and the M'arch report.

USE OF SURPLUS BY MTS TO TAKE A “CONTRIBUTION HOLIDAY"

[50] Counsel for MTS explamed the balancung efl"ect between surplus and

. deficits and the entitlement of MTS to take a “contnbutlon holiday”, apparently not

well accepted by the Plaintlffs, but |t was explained that where the surplus based o

on mvestments produces a surplus, MTS may use the surplus and take a' :
“contributlon hollday” legltimately because ‘when a deﬁc1t occurs due to a faIl |n‘
value of the investments and/or interest rates, MTS is bound to make up the

deﬁcnt from its resources, to fund the difference. These issues based o_n the record
of examination and cross examination are not easily underStood. and contain what_, B
was referred to as a polycentric input of factors and whether the process benefits o
'the Plamtiffs is senously questioned | | .
[51] MTS argues that the process to balance the surplus agalnst the obllgation |

by MTS to fund_the deﬁCit-when that occurs is the basis on which the fund :
operates. The employees argue otherwise and that the employer is not to take a
'~ contribution holiday without the _consent of the employees which‘ it did not r.eceive

following implementation.
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[52] Brenda McInnes was project Ieader for "the creation of the new plan and

presently Treasurer for MTS

Cross Exammatlon on Aff' davit of Brenda MclInnes, April 18, 2006

159
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-Q You have already confirmed that MTS tooka
. contribution holiday beginning in 1998 and ending the
- first quarter of 2003 correct? '
Correct.
And you will agree that surplus in the new plan has
~only been used for contribution holidays?
Yes.
And it has not as of yet been used for beneﬁt
improvements? = :
There is no surplus in the plan at this point in tlme, and
at no point in time have we changed the benefits in the
- plan other than to grant cost of living increases.
Right. And there was surpluses in the plan in 19987
~ Yes, through 2002.
Those surpluses were not used to enhance benefi ts7 -
No, other than granting of the COLA WhICh isin the
. plan aIready '

‘[5'3]' Mr. Fox's own evidence eonﬁrms that there was confusion in his attem’pted

'explanatio'n of t'he process which he presented in his Power Point explanation.

QUESTIONS POSED BY TEAM

Do you consider the right to decide on how surplus is used as
a benefit as is the case under the CSSA? ' ‘
The members of the new MTS Plan have not lost any of their
rights. MTS is now providing a fully funded indexed benefit
that you did not have before. If the use of these “Trust
Funds” by MTS is ever an issue, a court WI|| decide whether
MTS has acted appropriately. -

QUESTIONS POSED BY TEAM

The why assumes that the answer to the first question is Yes

_that the employer has the right. I was not asked to
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determine rights, I was asked to determrne whether the
benefits were of equivalent value. Again whatever MTS does ,
can ultimately be decrded by a court of law.

APPOINTMENT OF MR FOX BY AUDITOR GENERAL '

[54] The Audrtor General, Jon Srngleton was given the responsrbrlrty of
appointing an rndependent actuary and there is no claim that in thrs partrcular1 :
case the actuary when appornted was anythrng other than rndependent The .
| 'Audrtor, Mr. Jon Singleton, hired Mr Fox and beyond hrs hrrrng someone '
rndependent he had no authorrty under the Iegrslatron relative to the preparatron
of his report on the various. issues mcluded in equrvalence Itis noteworthy that
Mr. Fox had not prepared any documentatron of this nature in the past and in
many respects was not famrlrar wrth how the pensron fund operated | |
[55] Much of the evrdence supportrng the employee S posrtron provrded in these

proceedrngs was based upon the evrdence of Mr. Harry Restall (a former

employee of MTS and famrlrar with the benef its offered). His affi davit a_nd the - .

cross-examination came from discussions that he _ha'd with Mr. Fox and
information he had on Mr. Jon Singleton. His evidence for the most part was not.

| contradicted.

CREDIBILITY ISSUES '

[56] The PIarntrffs argue that Mr Srngleton played more of a role in prepanng
the f nal report than was approprrate given that the task was assrgned to Mr. Fox

rFox had the right and opportunrty of canvassrng various partres to obtarn
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information and assess the _important.compOnen.ts of eqdivaléncé from the ;I'EAM, i |
| however, the eVidence it is argued, sUgge'st's__that-Mr. 'Singieton Spent a.
considerébly greater ’amoqht of time on this project, (exhibit 55 to Mr. 'Reﬁtall’s
Af_ﬁd_évit). Thisevidence pbints'c)ut that Singletbn had put in'apprc:)ximately'177
hours while exhibit 54 shOWS 'Fox spent only 155 houfs. | )
[57] There are numerous bietes of t_ofrespon'dence in Mr. Singleton’s hands
which Wefe forwarded to c_)thér persons, éssociate_d .with “him, for. review and
corisideration, which Ieadé the Plainti'ffs_to, conclude _that the final feport wés
contributed to and ‘substantially edited by .Singleton and others. There was no
authority giv_eh to Singléton_that-he might seek the approval or have the draft .
opinidn§ vetted by Singletdns. colleagues or by MTS without giving the same
| opportunity to “the employees”. | |

[58]' There a'ré several examples where the Plaintiffs allege Singléton ._ himSelf
’appears to have 'mi'sconstrﬁed his own reSp.'ons'ibiIity when he writes, for example, = .
communications referring to Mr. Fox as his agent, and on other occasiohs_whefe
he refers to “our report”. These are subsequently changed but it leaves to doubt |
that referénceé to Mr. Fox receiv_ing. recommehdations or amendments to hié f
‘report reflect a Qreater role played by Singleton in ﬁnélizing}the report than it
should. The -amendments are hot trivial and included wholesale changes tb_ the

report.
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[59] The changes made by Slngleton to the final report raise an |ssue of hIS
| credibility as to how much mput he actually had or aIternatlver how |mportant he |
regarded hIS respon5|b|hty to assrst Fox. |
[60] Other areas which have been argued create at Ieast an issue of credlblllty__
‘and concern about who was the actual author of the report and Foxs"
mdependence If as aIIeged Slngleton provnded the basis for a portion of the .
| 'report prepared by Fox wh|ch mcluded Smgleton s ideas and suggestlons, the ﬂnal N
report mcludlng Slngletons matenal may not have been able to be adequately
cr|t|qued by Fox, who was ot as informed or famlhar with the sub]ect matter He
may not have necessanly been abIe to teII whether or not Smgleton S contnbutlon o
was correct | | | :
[61] The evndence of Mr. Restall was that Snngleton also drafted the letter of
equnvalency sent out to mterested parties.
[62] There are after the fact, circumstances which do not palnt Mr. Fox.m the ,

best of light. His acknowledgement that he double bllled for his tlme put h|s :

integrity'in question. One might questlon his credibility and conclude he may aI_so o |

- have accepted other’s opinion .of equivalency and ‘thereby' compromis_ed his
independence. His credibility |s a‘ matter thatvonly the court can‘ determine on
hearing all of _the evidence'at trial. As indicated above

...the proposition that an |ss'ue of credibility precludes the grantmg of

summary judgment applies only when what is said to be an issue of
credlbnhty isa genunne issue-of cred|b|l|ty
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[63] In "respect'to the time Fox actually spent and remuneratiOn claimed for

' preparlng the report Mr. Fox admrtted that he had indeed double billed for his -

report The hours that he recorded were double the number he actually spent in
as much as he was to receive $125 per hour, but he doubled his hours w.hrch
“doubled his income for this project. o

[64] The' issue of what equiualent value is has’b'een thevsubject of interpretation.
| V'The deﬁnrtlon is found at exh|b|t 23(d) to Restall’s Affi davrt and contalns
prowsrons which were amended by Mr. Slngleton (See Exhibit 18)

[65] It is apparent from the evrdence as well, that unknown to Mr. Fox,

Srngleton sought out Mr W. Fraser’s. (Presrdent and Chref Executlve offi icer of -

-MTS) response to the document and although it was suggested that the letter was
never'received or lost, MTS' productions in these proceedlngs contained the. draft
which one could onIy deduce Was the same one that went to Mr. Fraser.

'[66] Srngleton S cross—examrnatron reflects the process followed in vettlng Fox’s» '
opinion with others, nor d|d Singleton consider it an advantage to MTS if he
provided information to Fox from one side only.

Cross rExamination ,on Affidavit of Jon Singleton, May 3, 2006

727 Q If you look over at the next, look over at the document
' - proper, you will see what has been added is,
“A secondary objective will be to assess whether the
contributions to finance benefits on implementation are
" shared equally by the employees and emponer as.
o intended by the CSSA.”
A Yes, I see that.
728 Q Your evidence is that you don't have a recollection of
sending this to Mr. Fraser?
A That's correct.
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And you never talked to Mr. Fox to get his input as to .
whether it was necessary to send the document to Mr. |

~ Fraser?

I don't recall. .
And you knew by that time that Mr Fox had already

. talked to MTS representatives about MTS’s take on
- what definition of equivalency in value meant? -

Yes, I must have known that at the time.

‘Tt is Mr. Fraser’s evidence that you called hrm You
can't speak to that?

I have no reason to doubt the fact that: he is correct L
In any event, there would be no reason to send this
draft to MTS, would there?

Well, if you are asking me if it would be necessary ‘and

‘essential to do that, I would say no, it is not. .

There would be no reason at all?

‘There is no reason not to either. '
- But why? Why are you determining whether he should

have an opportunity to get his take on it? What
authority did you have, sir, to do that? .
I just thought—if, in fact, I did, I wouId have thought lt '
was a reasonable thing to do.

- Why was it reasonable, sir? There was no need to, _

was there? You are giving Mr. Fraser an opportunity to.'

- comment on a draft of equivalency in value7

That's correct. -
Was that because you wanted MTS to be able to vet
the work that Mr. Fox was doing?

Well, since I can't recall ever sending it to him or the
conversation, I reaIIy can’t comment on that.

So you didn't consider that one side having an -
advantage over another in terms of giving their

“thoughts, with respect to whether the plans were -

equivalent in value, was a reIevant consideration?
That's correct

[67] Singleton took it upon himself to express the view tha_t‘it' Wwas unnecessary

~ to provide the “employees” with some of the information given by MTS to Fox. In

these circumstances such conduct may well be a breach of natural justice, bearing

‘ '_in mind that the employees are a large but identifiable group, all of whom stand to
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loose financially if the result reached was in error. As was said in vI_(a’ne‘ V.
| University of British Cdlumbia_(1980' 1 S.C.R. 1105 para. 32 quoting ‘('B_d. of
" Education v. Rice 1911 AC 179 at 182 (H.L.): |
The tribunal must listen fair/y to bdth.sides giving both parties to the
controversy a fair opportunity ‘“for correcting or contradicting any
relevant statement prejudicial to their views”.
[68] The evidence shows that a reque_s't was made to Singleton or Fox for the

same inforrnatidn as'had 'been proVided to MTS. This inforrnation was relevant to

| the issue and was requested in writing although it was not ever provrded to the o

Plaintiffs, aIIegedIy denylng them of the posution belng taken by MTS and the
opportunlty to respond

[69] The same request came from Mr. Restall hinisélf but 'again the' informa‘tion.
was not forthcomlng (See Exhibit 43) It was apparent that Employee members
were askrng for lnformation, yet Singleton took it upon himself not to share it wrth
the plan m'embers. (See Exhibit 33 and 34). The information was _materlal sent to
'Fox b_y MTS in.support of its position and in some cases critical of the pdsition of

Pt

[70] Exhibit 34 is a draft which was sent by Mr. Henderson and Fox indicating '»

the employees.

“our review”, again indicating that the draft was prepared jointly in some fashion:
 [71] Fox's evidence was that “unless things are done insofar as funding and
surplus are concerned there would be no equivalence”. Those provisions however

were not included.
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[72] Concerns were expressed ‘_ by several, 'including. 'Ch‘erylk t_3a_rker_ (Vice
President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer of _MTS), who had :expressed thesé |
concerns at a meeting that things were wrong with the Foxvrepor_t._'_l’he meeting, .'
which involved several persons, Barker recalled included di’seussions- of unfunded :
liability' and the use of the surplus under the old plan, aII of whrch was drscussed ._
in the absence of anyone from the Plarntlffs but would have been |mportant to the -
employees. |

[73] ) Brenda jM'cInnes also reports that the actu.arial "evaluati_On was never
provided‘to or seen by Fox before the final MarCh 5, 1997 repOrt was prepared
_whlch in itself reﬂects erther a Iack of due diligence or fairness. It onIy makes 3
sense that an actuarral evaluatron ought to have been consrdered by Fox -
| [74]- These various Jissues require clarification and |f they are in error, 'they ’
req'u:ire a remedy. .
[75] The Defendants on the other hand are seekrng protectron from further}
examrnatron Or Cross examlnatron based upon the Iegrslatron which it is argued |
precludes any challenge to Foxs report. The Defendants,drd not appear to have ;
objected to the giving of 'eviden_ce and cross examination in pre-_trial prep_aration.
If protection is available to either FoX or Singleton why would counsel not protest’
the extensive examination and Cross examination or object to the currentvuse of: |

this voluminous material at the time.
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CLIFFORD FOX'S MANDATE AS AN INDEPENDENT ACTUARY

'[76]. Fox was not restricted nor directed by Iegislation as to hovr/ he wdu_ld go
. about.his task.» He__was,entitled to seek the help he needed, consult and intervi_evsr
the_bersons knOwIed'geabIe in this field. He was entitled in. other words to go
.abou_t‘ the task as he saw best. There is however no evidence that Singleton was
more knoWIe‘d'geabI‘e than Fo$<, ih fact there is no evidence that he was 'more or
_ .'Iess experlenced than Fox and absent that expert|se, Srngleton may have
umntentlonally erred in whatever advnce he gave Fox. |

[77] The notion of “md_ependence” gave Fox the nght to make his own decision
_ on the meaning ef “equivalence”» - and‘,to .decide what factors to take into-
.account; B |
[78] If he were inexperienced at the task, which he"freeliy'admitted, he c0u|d' |
choose whoever was knowledgeable in determining his designated equi‘valence; It
was not up to SihgletOn to provide his oWn. advice or to seek assistance from his |
coIIeaQues. | |
[79] Even of greater significance as rndlcated earher is the absence of any-
_reference to elther an appeal or review of the actuarys report. The Ieglslatlon '-
d_oes not preclude an appeal, nor does it state that Fox’s decision is final and
~ binding. Fox himself was of the belief that» if he were wrong on the pension
surplus; resort may be made to the court.

[80] The Iegislature.in making the -appointment through the Provincial Auditor

- was accepting of the opinion arrived at by an independent actuary — no - |
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qualiﬁcationsvvere required eXcept_for independence and theduali’ﬂéat_ions of a'n |
actuary. It vvould be unfair ifa major '_error were made in determining equivalence .
- affecting the future financial base of the employees" beneﬁts.withou_t_a remedy to .

revi_ew the actuary’s decision. |

[81] The question is did_ 'th_ose acting in an advisory way or research »cap'acitygo"»
beyond the limits and u‘ndvuly inﬂuenoe the . result? There‘ "are certainly
| appearances that exrsted The employees have a high degree of susprcron that the '
pro;ect was misconstrued by both Fox and Singleton and that the results were not‘
only unfair but mcorrect. -

[821 Whether he 'chose the correct information or relied . wrongfullyfon the
inforn1ation provided, he certiﬁed that the final opinion was his; the _task'he set -'
out to p‘erform. If however the final opinion vvas patently incorrect there'_ ought to

be an avenue available to correct it. This is a matter the court should_ decide.

‘CONTRIBUTION HOLIDAY AS AN ISSUE

[83] Both the Plaintiffs and the Defendants in the course of determining if there .
is a valid genuine issue for trial' have advanced issues W_hICh are trial issues. How
the new pian functions is deScribed at length by both sides with the Plaintiffs
claiming that MTS is taking money. from the plan in what is’ referred to as 'a
contri.butionrholiday and this action according to the Plaintiffs is indicative of ‘».'

inequality or proof that the new and the old plans are not equivalent.
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[84] The Defendant_s MTS say taking a contribution holiday is appropriate to
remedy imbalance when a sufficient surplus is reached because alternatively when

the reverse occurs MTS is requwed to fund the deficit and bring the balance in the :

funds back into equnllbnum The fund is assuredly inclined to go up and down as

the investment market varies hence when it moves ina dll’eCtIOI‘l of a surplus a
' cont_ributiOn hoIiday could tal<e place wherea_s if the markets decline or interest
 rates drop_‘:and the balance falls below the leVeI at which the pension fund shou‘ld |
be"maintained then the Defendant is required to fund the de'ﬁcit.'. Does _thi's
approach favour eqUivalency and is it a,contentious and genuine issue for trial?

[85] Whether this process or other treatment of the fund is consistent with Fox's-

- opinion is also a matter for the court at trial to decnde

[86] A question before me is whether both Fox and Singletons conduct should
be the object of declaratory relief. _Does therr conduct give rise to this cou,rt
ﬁnding'that by,t'heir COnduct a declaration :should be made when neither one of
them are the subject of a ﬁnancial declaratory judgment? ' R |
| [87] ,Thifs matter was canvassed thoroughly by Smith, J. (Klymchuk v. Cowar_t _
95 D.L.R.(2d) 587 at p.5 of Quick Law Report.) ae to whether a declaration might .-
| .be used in place of a prerogative writ. He made relierence-to Hallsbury and
quoted the following statement of law relating to declaratory orders.' The quote is
found at oage's of his judgment as follows: |

"The remedy by declaration is available to ensure that a board or
other authority set up by Parliament makes its. determinations in

accordance with law, and this is whether the determinations are -

Jjudicial, disciplinary or administrative...”
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- [88] In the material prepa_red by Donald Brown Q.C. and the Hon. John:_M., )

Evans, “JUD_ICIAL- REVIEW OF ADMIN_ISTRATIVE ACTION IN CANADA‘"

under the heading "THE REQUIREMENT OF JUSTISCABILITY”, it says at para

1:7310: |
| “BecaUSe the scope of -declaratory relief lacks clear defi nition, |
courts have been concerned to ensure that declarations are sought .
only in respect of matters that are properly the subject of judicial
determination. Thus, as a general principle the subject matter of the -
dispute must be justiciable both in the sense that it must be within
the competence of the judiciary to determine, and that |t must be
one that itis appropnate for a court to decrde :

- [89] I am of the view that supported by the evrdence th|s is a matter for the
courts to decide as the repercussrons to the plamtlffs is too substantlal to lgnore o
'The authors Brown and Evans leave scope for the courts dlscretlon and use the
Ianguage “reluctant” to grant declaratory relief. In my view this caseis a sntuatron
where reluctance is out welghed by rmportance and. the protectlon of 7000 "
employees. Nor are there any provrsrons to mdlcate that an appeal-does not lie.
[90] Accordingly I would not dismiss this application because the remedy sought - "

is for declaratory r,elie'f._

STANDARD OF REVIEW
[91] It is apparent from the material,'ﬁled that the employees mistrusted the :
~ opinion provided. The parties have differing views on what should have gone into

the making of Fox's opinion. The balance reached by Fox changed several times
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related to hlS first draft opinion and the Plaintiffs believe that they were changed
- by outsrde influences and m breach of the “Aud| Alteram Partem" rule demandlng _
fairness. | |
[92] | A pre-imminent consideration in this case is Whethera_ ‘standa'rd of review |
~ can be applied to the actions of Fox in his 'comihg to a conclusion and if he were

in error resuiting in a declaration setting aside of his opinion

| [93] in consrdering thei |ssue the authorities are few in dealing with the authority
| ~of adm_rnrstratwe action of a general nature and decisions of a Iegislatlve nature.
[94] In this case the‘“.L_e_gisiature: assigned an independent actuary to carry out
the 'task'.‘ His cdnstituency was a discrete group of pedple not affecting the lives -
“or the work places of the general population and may be taken as affectingonlya
'partiCUIar- group. The group may be affe'ctéd at differing levels vof ﬁnancial.
seriousness but rt is the mistreatment |f any, of the fund itself whrch must be
handled correctly

[95]1 The Legislature chose through its Auditor General an expert wrth actuarial
| skills which are applicable when assessing mathematical reiationships and values-
of related'cor-nponents,} but the evidence indicates. he rnay not have experience in ',
‘determining the fundamental in this case, ie. pension equivalence. in regard to
| surplus, funding deficit and governance. The admission of mexpenence reduces
or eliminates deference on the issue of penSIon comparisons. |
[96] In the decrsron of Cardmal v. Kent Institution 2 S.CR. 643, LeDain, J.

- states:



: “

There ‘can be no doubt that the director was under a duty of
- procedural fairness in exercising the authority conferred by Section
40 of the Regulations with respect to administrative disassociation-or
segregation. This court has affirmed that there is, as a general
common law principal, a duty of procedural fairness lying on every. .
public authority making an administrative decision which is not of a

legislative nature and Wthh affects the nghts privileges or mterests -

of an rndrvrdual

(Under/in)'ng’ mihe)_, |
| ‘[97] Conslderrng the polycentrrc nature of the oprnlon Fox offered again as
stated earller absent any fraud hrs oprnlon should not ordrnarrly be questloned
however as mdrcated he owed a duty to both the employees and the employer as -
too much was at stake for thrs dlscreet group. | |
| [98] . This case‘ falls wlthln" the_ category ‘r'eferred to .in- Car_d_inal. l-lere the -

decision made by Fox requires fairness. The Iegislation reqUires indepe‘ndence and

does not impose rules and regulations on the Actuary He had the Irberty of o

proceeding as he saw best and dorng S0 must apply farmess as hrs decrsron would
~ affect the mterests of each of the employees Procedural farrness rs requrred S0
»as not to pre- empt the group of employees from equrvalence in the new pensron -
plan. | |
[99] The d'eterm'i‘nation of»pension rights were speciﬁc to a group of peOple, if
the plans were not .eq'uivalent it then affected each individual to a Qreater or Iesser _

 degree since the amount of surplus and‘f_unding were lmportant vto all members of
the group. The purpose was not to divest individuals of pension beneﬁts, but -if

improperly calculated it could have done exactly that and those interested'had a
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distinct interest in the fundamental nature of the new plan to ensure this would
not happen

[100] Accordlng to Restall s affidavit evidence at paragraph 79:

- Fox fun‘her noted that it is /mpon‘ant to see the initial actuarial
report prepared by Buck Consultants MTS’ actuary (the “Buck

Report”), dated February 27, 1997, on the New Plan and the

actuarial report of Turnbull and Turnbull dated Apr// 23, 1997
establishing the assets to be transferred from the CSSA (the
 “Turnbull Report”). These reports, he stated, must be reviewed to
" clarify the concerns he has about funding of the New Plan for

benefits accrued to December 31, 1996. Attached as Exhibits "35 & -

"36” are the Buck and Tumnbull actuarial reports.” Fox never saw the
Buck Report or the Turnbull Report until after these proceedings
. were commenced. The Buck Report shows a $7 Million unfunded
liability on an actuarial basis. However, the liability arises only
because of a $63.1 Million write-down of market value assets by
Buck Consu/tants ‘Had market value of the assets been used to

determine funding, the New Plan would have been in a surplus

position.. (Aﬂ" Tdavit af 7770masD Levy, sworn February 3, 2005)

[101] The Plalntrffs were unaware that the initial report on the new pIan dlsclosed
_an unfunded Iiability ‘based upoh a 63.1 m wrrte down and d|d not have an
~ opportunity to ‘respond. | | |

[102].The equivalency definition was fundamental because the deﬁnition may
well be determmatlve of the pension issue. Fox.se'nt‘ his own deﬁnition ofr_'
‘equrvalency to the Provmcral Auditor. There would appear to be nothing }'
_ |nappropr|ate in that measure since |t was |n|t|ated by Fox, however, the Provincial
Auditor redrafted the deﬁnition approximately 13 times which demonstrates a
heaVy level of review of Fox’s initial opinion and changes made pver those

provided by Fox’s initial view.
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[103] Furthermore the definition of equ'ivalency'was 'fonNarded to:-Bill :Fraser
which resulted in Smgleton deletlng a paragraph deallng wnth fundlng Fox was |
| unaware of the changes when th|s document was sent to the various mterested .
partles. Fox had mcluded in his definition of equnva|ency surplus fundmg and |
rgovernan'_Ce, while the' deﬁnition circulated to the interested parties did not do S0 .
- expressly. | ) . |

| '[104] Fox mlslead the employees “Falrness” as a standard of revnew may weII
not be required in some mstances however fanrness does not mclude dellberately

misleading the parties. The fund’s assets are enormous and |ntended to-support-

the employees and retlred employees in the future It cannot be taken Ilghtly that

the assets in the pIan could be transferred based upon the decusuon of one man' '

who d|d not have the authonty to make changes and may weII have short_,_

changed the compensat|on to the employees of the plan and benefi ted the

employer.
[105] The decision made by Fox was not of a legislative nature. His appointment
 was a legislated act but his decision was his own, or ought to have been and in .

my view .of procedural.fairness applies, and was disregarded' |n many of ‘Fox's

- decisions.

[106] The section of the legislation governing the authority of the‘Actuary does
not set limitations on him other than he must be independent and address himself "

| to the equivalency of the two plans, as of the date of implementation. The
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challenge by the employees is that in arriving at the result the independent
~ Actuary erred in several areas and now seek a remedy. | . |

- [107] As already'stated, »while Fox was appointed by legislation, and -the,refbre-
deferenCe is to be pai'd the Actu'ary’s opinion cannot be compl_etely' immune from.
© review. Such steps should only be con5|dered |f there is evndence of error wh|ch |
| 'may weII serlously ln]ure fi nanc1a||y the challenglng party Important evndence is '_
| the fact that Fox did not possess the expertlse he ought to have to determine
h _equuvalence or alternatlvely heanng from both partles to provide an opportunlty :
fo‘r ‘fcorrectmg or contradlctlng any relevant statement pre;uducnal to their vnews...
[108] The question of Whether this opportunity was given or not is a genuine
- lssue for trial. | | |
[109]_ Before making this decision this court is bound to 'determine from thev
legislation, the intent and interpretation. Sectidn 15 directs the opihion is to"be
given by an actuary, 'secohdly that persen: ts to be independent and thirdly to
determtne the. issue - of equivalency of the two penSion plans as of the }
|mplementat|on date.
'[110] The issues under section 15 are abundantly clear respectmg the '\
appomtment of an actuary, that he be mdependent at the tlme, and the factors to'_
' be considered.. |
[111] In so far as the intent to the opinion being final, the parameters to be
consndered are the issues of deference to the decision being made, and the»

: absence,of a privative clause. The Supreme Court of Canada in (Pushpanathan
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V. 'Canada. (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration) 1988"1 S CR. 982) |
decision_ refers to weighing various ’_factors to be appliedv as -‘f'pragma_tic :and :
| functional”l reflected in the traditional approach ~which .include | “Cor'rectness”,‘_ : |
' “Patent unreasonableness” and “Reasonableness simp/iciter"- | |
[112] The fi nancral |mpact of non equnvalence on the “employees” is substantlal'- |
over the course of their receivmg pensron benef ts. Reliance on retirement income
for a standard of living has a high degree-of importance to each member toin_sure "
the right amount is calculated ThlS achievement requires correctness
[113] Wlth the various concerns expressed by the employees, should there not be
some entitlement to challenge the decusnon made, not. by way of an appeal or -
prerogative writ, but by way of a rewew of the valrdity of the actuary S oplmon on -'
equwalency?
[l 14] If the evidence when examined closely determines that there' |s an .
extensive dollar error, there ought tobe a right.to declare the decision in 'e"rror or
void? S

[115] To assure there are no. unreasonable errors the court should be able to

Iook at the overall evidence at trlal and resolve the apparent conﬂict between the

parties on the issue of equwalen_cy. It should review the conduct of both
Defendants not to avpply its ovyn opinion but to determine the applicable standard |
of review an»d apply the proper remedy. |
[116] T am therefore of the view that FoX who clearly is a‘ public officer in as

“much as he is appointed by legislation, nevertheless is d'esi,gnated' to perform the
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function of determlning equrvalency in the pension pIans in the interest of a
dlscreet group of persons He is - not establishing pollcy for the broad pubhc '
mterest and he is to dlrect h|s attention at fairly determining equivalency in order :

that the employees are provnded wnth a fair deal over the Iong run. "

'[117] Fox was. not in the posrtion as was the administrator in Aasland v. B. C

| '[1999] BCJ No. 1104 (BCSC) (the “anzly Bear Case") deasnon where the" : _'
| administrator did not have to act fairly. He was entitled to make a decrsuon in the
general‘ publlc interest to preserve the level of the grizzly bear populatlon for the.
betterment of the population at large. There is. a vast difference between an
administrator not consultlng and not acting fairly by not consulting everyone -‘
._a'ffe_cted, because he was given the broad mandate to preserve the grizzly bear
population. In this case there Is far more at stake for the "empioyees' if the
equivalency ﬁndings were not correct. Hence fairness and correctness are
essential components to the review of the actions taken by Fox The group here
consrsted of an identifiable number of employees and former employees._
(approximately 7000) all haVing a distinct interest in the issue of equwalency of .
the two pians'. | | |

{1 18]_ “In dealing with a review where someone is designated by the Government -
ina llegisiated_function, Philli_p Jones, Q.C. and Ann S. Da Villars, Q.C., the authors
of the teXt f‘brina;o/es of Administrative Law Third Edition”, refer to the duty to be
fair, which in this case may be seen by the Plaintiffs that the actions of Fox were

. not fair. The authors state at p 215 of the text:
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Frnally the duty to be fair does not affect Ieglslatrve functlons at all

~as it is more fully described in the decision of Campo Corp. v..

Calgary (City) 1980 12 Alta. L.R. (2d) 379, which states the duty-to
be fair should not apply to the exercise of Ieglslatrve powers,
partlcularly delegated legislative powers.

The quote goes on further to say:

Those cases Wthh say that the exercise of Ieglslatlve functron for an _
improper purpose is ultra varies do not relate to the procedure used.

Hence Campo is not really on point. Indeed for some reason the
principals of natural justice have never been applied to the exercise
of a legislative power and this principal has not been affected atall
by the development of the duty to be fair. The distinction between a
legislative function on the one hand and a judicial, quasi judicial or

. executive one on the other hand will continue to be important. - -

JON SI'NGLETON’S ROLE IN PRODUCING AN OPINION

[119] The application for summary judgment by Jon Singleton is brought for the

dismissal of the various Declarations and the allegatiOns against' him based upon

the argument that there |s no genunne issue to have him remain |n the . Iaw sunt_

after consuderlng all of the evndence The posrtlon taken by thlS Defendant is that |

he has protectlon agannst legal-action based on Ieglslatlon

- [120] The Defendant relles upon Sectlon 20 of The Provmc:al Audlto:s Act-_ -

wh|ch states

Immunity from action or proceeding

20 No action or other proceeding may be brought

- against the Provincial Auditor, an Assistant to the

Provincial Auditor or any person employed under the

~ Provincial Auditor for anything done or omitted,

good faith, in the. exercise or intended exercise of a
power or in the:-performance or intended performance -
of a duty- or function under this or any other Act or
regulation, or any neglect or defauit in the exercise or
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performance in good faith of such power duty or
functlon ‘
The Svectionv cloaks the Provincial Auditor with immunity in the exercise of his

powersso Iong as his actions, even if mistaken, are carried outin godd faith.

' GOOD FAITH BAD FAITH |

| '[121] The protection section supporting the Provrncral Auditor turns .on whether
his actions were carried out |n good faith, whether or not he was mistaken or
knowingly mterfered wuth Foxs independence As the ewdence rndicates, there
were a number of actions taken by Singieton where he appears to have exceeded ;
his 'jurisdiction. His jurisdi‘ction was limited to what he was entitled to do under 7 |
the sections of the Iegislation appointing him to this task but he would be immune
from any action or other proceedlngs brought against him if it were establlshed
that those acts were carned out in good falth

[122] There. is no evidence advanced that there was: any personal motivation_.}
attached to what rmight be expressed as an]intrusion into the purview of the_
Actuary’s responsibility. |
[123]: The Auditor is an experienced and knowledgeable ‘individual in the role that
-he plays. He wars selected to a.ppoint the Actuary and was clearly aware that the
Actuary Wa_sto be independent. Independent by deﬁnition entails acting »freely
and without influence, pressure or- coercion. From the evidence addu_ced,it

~ appears that all of these factors applied to Mr. Fox. Appreciatin'g that Mr. Fox was
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appomted by the Provmcnal Auditor, the Audltor may well have understood that
3 Fox was not as weIl versed in making comparisons between pension plans as he :
 might be and thereby mferred that he ought to provrde the mformatlon he dld_ ,
,' along with the help that. he provided in these matters The: questlon remains,
were these actions taken in good faith to attract the protection of Section 207' |
~ The decision on this i issue is a genunne issue for tnal
'[124] The baS|s of his responsrbilities d|d not extend to anythlng beyond '
appornting Fox.. There is no reference in the Iegisla_tion to doing research for Fox,». B
and no authority to change. Fox’s opinion unilaterally in whole-or in part.'" Fox
might well have been entitled to ask for assistance but the evidence here is that
these bounds may have been exceeded These are trial lssues notwnthstandmg "
that the evidence of his. conduct is set forth in the pre-tnal examinations It
should be the tnal Judges assessment of this conduct that should determine the

question of good faith or bad faith and the effect it has on the Actuary S opinion

EXCEEDING JURISDICT ION KNOWINGLY MAY BE BAD FAITH

[125] The evndence tendered by Mr. Singleton in hIS Affi davnt was his beiief that,
throughout h|s relationship with Fox who he appornted his actions were be|ng :
carried out in good faith and that he believed it was within the purview of his
authority and power to do the things that the Plaintiffs claim amou‘nted to

~ interference with the independence of the Act_uary.
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| [126] Whtle the | authority provided under Section 15 directs itself‘ tp the B
| apporntment of the Actuary, it mlght follow that the Audltor may have beheved his
responsrbllrtles extended to prowdlng assistance to the Actuary in rdentlfyrng the _
partles to contact, provndlng information relative to. the two plans, the old,and the
- -new,_and offering assistance if asked for by the AGUary in proViding the necessary B
tools .and infdrmatidn. These 'are» m_atters better assessed by the trial judge rather
“than from the printed word. | | ‘. |
[127] MTS takes the’ p05|t|on that there is no evrdence which would g|ve nse toa

belief that the Auditor General Mr Smgleton, acted in bad faith and that absent

evidence of bad faith there is no genuine issue for trial affecting Srngleton. This .

, questioh must be co_hsideredi by dealing with the issue of exceeding his jurisdiction -
which ipso facto, may be bad faith. Mr. Singleton took it upon himseif that may -
have led to the‘_employees and retirees bei‘ng prejudiced. The foIIow_ing Q&A deal

with his approach to assisting Fox.

Cross Examination on Aff' davit of Jon Smgleton, May 3, 2006

484 Q Mr. Fox prepared we wrll get into it, is preparing drafts )
of definition of equivalence and drafts of his op|n|on

correct? :
Yes.

- And we know that MTS received them, that the
Plaintiffs didn't; correct?

- Okay. I think that's been establlshed yes.
Would you agree with me, sir, that the Plaintiffs had -
every much a right to that material as MTS had?
No.
And why is that, sir?

485

486

o> OF» O»

487
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A Well, Mr. Fox was in the process of determining an..
actuarial fact in his view. As long as he had = S
information necessary for him to determine what the -
| right answer was, than that’s his job to do.

[128] The court faces whether this approach taken by Singleton'to deliberately" |
keep the information from the employees is a matter of “Bad Falth”
[129] Negllgence, mlstake or lack of apprecratuon of the terms of reference |n
themselves do not necessarlly constltute bad faith. Counsel for MTS argues that o
the actlons taken by the Audltor were desrgned to be of. assrstance to Fox whom |

he appornted and that he offered his assistance when, for example, Slngleton

believed that Mr. Fox was havmg difficulty and he lent his assnstance to him. :

[130] ‘T'he Plaintiffs refer to decisions where immUnity may“'not' be granted in. I

: _.caSes where bad faith is evident, for-example'Where there'is an uiterior motive or
 the mdrvndual is guilty of the tort of pubhc mnsfeasance or malice in the actlons |
that are taken. MTS argues that none of these are apphcable in th|s case and the '
Audltor merely provrded assrstance to Fox |

[131] The |ssue here relatrve to the Provincial Auditor is whether he crossed the:
line in what mlght be between supervrsmg or directing the Actuary S deC|S|on

[132] These are issues which heanng from the Auditor himself should determlne
whether Good. or Bad Faith applies. The evidence recites a I|tany of- examples |
where Singleton 'appears to have exceeded his jurisdiction — these issues ought to .
be reviewed by the trial judge; | |
[133] In reviewing much of his involver'nent' with the.'Actuary the evidence is not

 contested and not denied by Mr. Singleton.
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[134] There are furtherv instances where Singleton provided MTS: with -
'documentatlon and lnformatron respectlng Fox's report which were not shown to
the Plalntlffs and in fact were delayed in belng shown the information untrl
relatlvelyr re_cent!y.
[135] It is also apparent lthat Singleton played a_' major role in removing a |
'paragraph from the final repo:rt drafted_ hy Fox which had a critical effect on the
treatment of the pension fUnd SUrplus.. | N |
| [136] »While. these actions may well have been t:arried.dut on the 'belief that they -
fell within the purview of, his 'role pdrsuant to- the legislation, or whether Singleton
knew whether his role was far more constrarned than he carried out,v is a question -
for the trial judge. | |
[137]‘_ To have made ch'anges in the Various reports that were the responsibility of o
the Actuary and»in 'some cases, doing it without his :knowledge, ren1ain, a tria_l
issue. | | | |
[138] fhe notes when the issues of equi\raleney were discussed 'between |
Singleton and Fraser resulted in Fraser's notes containing handwritten urging to_. -
have Slngleton call him about equrvalency - | |
[139] It is very apparent that these issues were drscussed and provided to Fox.
' These issues as well might be more thoroughly examined by the trial Judge to
determrne whether the good faith/bad farth issue exrsted so as to attract the

protection of Section _20 or not.
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[1_40] Bad faith would include acting_with ill motive or having an inter_e_st“in the "
~ outcome or‘some‘other- ulterior motive such as_cdur_iering favor of some s_ort from
apaty. |

[141] Mr. Singleton- by hrs very position as Prov'incial Auditor would know what it
‘means to appornt an independent actuary and. what “mdependent" meant. To |
'»make the decrsron or assist in it or mﬂuence the maker detracts from hrs

rndependence It was however not Srngleton S mandate to assrst in the decrsron |

akrng process much Iess wrrtmg part of the oprnron or in removrng some |

provision from the f naI draft. Singleton admrtted he knew that assrstrng in
| prepanng the oprnlon did not fall under h|s ]unsdrction The changes were made
_wrthout ‘knowledge of Fox at least in one |nstance It should be for the court to
determine if these factors upon hearing the‘evrdence were a breach of_ -“good
faith”.

[142] Singleton as Provincia,l Auditor, is a .g<jvernment official. His role in this
capacity might be referred to a.s -a “watch-dog” for the 'gOVernment. Hisi
| responsivbilities'would include. insuring the objectives_ of this project were carried,
out and that would include insuring FpX’s independence. Exercising influence 'over- '.
.F0x Qr_-adding changes 'tp the opinion or consulting with colleagues affects the
. 'O_p'tics that Fox was not acting independently, a matter which raises a genuine

issue for trial. .
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[143] _Are the alleged errors, mistakes .and by :deliberately e*ceeding_ j.urisdictiOn _
| even without proof that'Singl'eton had any motive; sufﬁcient'to be categorized:as'
bad faith.,
[144] These matters referred to in-the relie_f ‘sou_ght in the pleadings Whe,n taking
a “hard look” are supported"by 'evidence and‘are genuine .issues that shou_ld be -
determined by the trial judge. v} | |
[145] It will be up to the trial ]udge to determine if suff cient access was grven to

one sude over the other Consrderable reference was made to the entitlement of

MTS executives e.g. Barker, Paterson, Singleton, Fraser and others to -speak to

Fox and influence his thinking on the basrc issue — ought the employees to have

had the same entitlement wull be for the court to decrde the effect of these-' :

meetings on the result and was it detrimental or otherwrse 2’

[146] Singleton was particularly diffi dent in provrding documentation Wthh had ‘ -

been put before Fox, to the employees Accordmg to Restall Fox was mﬂuenced o

to make changes to the opinion after he had already decrded that the issue of
equrvalency should include the surplus and funding components |
[147] The parties have differing views on the |nclu5|on of these issues wit.h.thev _‘
employees believing they ought to be» included 'a.nd Singleton vbelievin‘g otherwise.
[148] On the basis of ReStallis’evidenCe it leads one to conclude that Singleton .
controlled the process and the isSues which made up eqUivalenCy.' For example
* the definition of equivalency was Iargely.c_rafted by Singleton as indicated by

Singleton’s markings (Exhibit 23 E to Restall’s Affidavit). The definition was sent
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out using-‘ Singleton’s definition, to the interested partieé. The wording |n the
~ definition waé Singl,éton’s with Fox édmi_tting he did :not.underSta_n'd man‘_y'_of\t'he _
férms; actordihg to Restall's' evidence (para. 60 of Restall’s Affidavit). |
[149] 'The _employées weré left .in the dark as to the baSi_s for the change in
- .opinion from not equivalent‘to equivalency between tﬁe two plans.

| [1_50] There Was never an oppdrtunity 'given- to the erriployees to comment on
'thrée réasons .advanced by Barker for the chénges.

[151] The evidence provided 'vby actu‘arie'_s for both .sidés of_- the disp’ﬁ_te are at
odds;'. '6ver whether the two 'plans'are equivélent. _Thbrhas D. Levy, being Chief
Actuary of theSegvaI Co,, oﬁ behalf of the efhplby_ees commented adQerSely vori the -
three réasons given by 'B_a'rker supporting eduivale_ncie_s ‘and states that .the.
me_thqdology used by Fox was ﬂawed. Levy concltjdes the two plans Wére 'n_of |
equivalent. o | |
[152] One of th_e' basic issués was that the éurplus under the present opinion méy_ ,
generate fuhds that can be used by the employer — this view is strongly Opposed )
by the employees and the use of these funds is a genuine issue for trial. -
[153] I am therefore left with a view that on tl'.lles_:e matters there are vgenuine‘ ‘-
fssues_f_or trial as to whether Singleton breached his ma»ndate and acted in bad
faith in his handling of thésubsfantive issLles of equivalence_between the old and

| the new pén_sibn plan. |
[154] In summary .I ﬁnd that in this case that Fox’s conduct and. his report are

‘subject to a duty of fairness and can be reviewed on that basis. The duty entails
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a dUty- to be fair = applying natural justice _p:rinc_iples-a.nd aliows- ihdividuals to
prese'nt thei.r case fuIIy and fairly |n an open procese Fairhess allows the oarties”
- the opportunlty to respond to presentatlons made I conclude that there were‘ ,
mstances where credlbmty issues arose and falrness may not have been apphed

giving rise to genume issues for tnal

[155] I am therefore of the vrew based on the informa'tioh 'contained' in» the .

- volumes of aff‘ davit and cross-exammatlon ewdence WhICh I found relevant that g

there is adequate matenal supportrng the exnstence of genume lssues for tr|aI
mvolvnng both Srngleton and Fox. I repeat that these ﬁndlngs are supportlve of
‘ genuine' issues and not intended to be determinative of 'the issues, ref_erred to -
above. | | | |

[156] The ‘_ap'plications for summary judgment to dismt'ss the acﬁone.a.gainst the
Defendants Jon Sihgleton 'and' Clifford Fox are dismissed with ,vcost‘s to the

plaintiffs.




